1999

Max R. Carter vs. Milford Valley Memorial Hospital, a government agency of Beaver County : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

JURISDICTION OF THE COURT

The jurisdiction of the Court is established by Sections 78-2-2(4) and 78-2a-3(2)(j), Utah Code Annotated, 1953, as amended.

ISSUE PRESENTED ON APPEAL

Were the employees/agents of Defendant who performed automotive mechanical maintenance, repairs and/or replacement of an ambulance, health care providers under the Utah Health Care Malpractice Act? This issue was preserved by virtue of Plaintiff's opposition to Defendant's Motion for Summary Judgment. (R. 98-104).

STANDARD OF REVIEW

The standard of review for reviewing a summary judgment is one of correctness; namely, whether the lower court's conclusions of law were correct, without giving any deference

whatsoever to those conclusions. Craftsman Builder's Supply v. Butler Manufacturing, 364 Utah Adv. Rep. 22, 24 (Utah 1999); Taylor v. Ogden School District, 927 P.2d 159, 162 (Utah 1996).

DETERMINATIVE STATUTES AND RULES

1. Utah Code Ann. §78-14-3 (1998) is set forth verbatim in the Addendum herein.
2. Utah Code Ann. §78-14-4 (1998) is set forth verbatim in the Addendum herein.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is a case for wrongful death as a consequence of the delayed medical care to the decedent arising from a malfunctioning ambulance. This appeal is from a summary judgment entered by the Fifth District Court of Beaver County, State of Utah on February 2, 1999. That court ruled that because Defendant is a health care provider, it was protected from Plaintiff's claim of negligence by its employees/agents in the automotive maintenance of an ambulance, by the two-year statute of limitations set forth in the Utah Health Care Malpractice Act, U.C.A. § 78-14-1 *et. seq.* (R. 109-114).

STATEMENT OF FACTS

On October 8, 1995, Anna Rae Carter, a resident of Minersville, Utah, became ill and distressed. Her husband, Max R. Carter, the Plaintiff/Appellant in this action, called for emergency assistance from an ambulance located in Minersville ("the Minersville Ambulance") which was operated by Defendant/Appellee, Milford Valley Memorial Hospital. Upon arrival of the Minersville Ambulance at her home, Mrs. Carter was placed inside and they departed for the Beaver Valley Hospital, located in Beaver, Utah, some 18 miles away. (R. 112).

Because the Minersville Ambulance began to experience mechanical difficulties, a second ambulance was called for by radio and dispatched from Beaver to meet the Minersville

Ambulance en route. Mrs. Carter was transferred to the Beaver Ambulance to continue the journey to the Beaver Valley Hospital. Mrs. Carter subsequently died on October 17, 1995. (R. 112).

Plaintiff filed the Complaint in this action on January 6, 1998, over two years after the incident in question.¹ In his Complaint, Plaintiff alleges that the Minersville Ambulance broke down and had to wait for the Beaver Ambulance, resulting in a delay of some twenty minutes. The Complaint further alleges negligent care and maintenance of the Minersville Ambulance, causing a delay in Mrs. Carter's arrival at the Beaver Valley Hospital, which was a direct and proximate cause of her wrongful death.² (R. 5)

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

An automotive mechanic does not provide care and service in any way similar to physicians, nurses, therapists, etc., and is not a health care provider under the Utah Health Care Malpractice Act. An action against a hospital engaging the services of an automotive mechanic steps beyond its protected role as a "malpractice action against a health care provider" contemplated by the statute, as all facets of hospital operation do not and should not be construed to be providing health care under the Act.

¹ When bringing this action, Plaintiff complied with the statute of limitations imposed by the Utah Governmental Immunity Act. See Utah Code Ann. §§ 63-30-13 to -15 (1998).

² Although Defendant submitted an Affidavit disputing such facts, they are not "material" to a determination of the Statute of Limitations issue as to whether the automobile mechanic is a health care provider. See Utah R. Civ. P. 56(r). *Cf. Heglar Ranch, Inc. v. Stillman*, 619 P.2d 1390, 1391 (Utah 1980) (summary judgment can be granted on undisputed material facts, even if are often non material facts disputed).

ARGUMENT

POINT ONE

AUTO MECHANICS DO NOT PROVIDE CARE OR SERVICE SIMILAR TO PHYSICIANS, NURSES, ETC., AND ARE NOT A HEALTH CARE PROVIDERS UNDER THE UTAH HEALTHCARE MALPRACTICE ACT

At issue is whether the definition of “health care provider” reaches to include an auto mechanic’s work on an ambulance. The applicable definition is specifically articulated in Section 78-14-3 of the Utah Code:

(11) "Health care provider" includes any person, partnership, association, corporation, or other facility or institution who causes to be rendered or who renders health care or professional services as **a hospital**, physician, registered nurse, licensed practical nurse, nurse-midwife, dentist, dental hygienist, optometrist, clinical laboratory technologist, pharmacist, physical therapist, podiatric physician, psychologist, chiropractic physician, naturopathic physician, osteopathic physician, osteopathic physician and surgeon, audiologist, speech-language pathologist, clinical social worker, certified social worker, social service worker, marriage and family counselor, practitioner of obstetrics, **or others rendering similar care and services relating to or arising out of the health needs of persons or groups of persons and officers, employees, or agents of any of the above acting in the course and scope of their employment.** [Emphasis added.]

Utah Code Ann. § 78-14-3(11)(1998).

Of course one does not find ambulance auto mechanic articulated among the specifically identified providers. If it is to be found, it must somehow be included as one of the “others rendering similar services . . .” clause. Instructing how to apply this clause, the Utah Supreme Court in Platts v. Parents Helping Parents, 947 P.2d 658, 663 (Utah 1997), pointed out that “[T]he statute does not address the similarity of titles, but rather the similarity of care and services.”

There is no room practically or technically to question how a physician, nurse, dentist, pharmacist or therapist, etc., provides for the health needs of persons. Yet, by any view, it seems unfathomable how one could include an automotive mechanic among their ranks.

Even assuming that a mechanic is employed full time by a hospital³, is the mechanic protected by the statute when he has worked on an ambulance and it breaks down in route? Or on the administrator's company car when it catches fire and burns him badly? Or on the hospital's garbage truck when its brakes fail and it runs a red light killing several in a minivan?

Perhaps its approach was flawed or the construction too narrow, but the Utah Court of Appeals took well the point that those attempting to apply — or those thinking that the statute just logically could not apply — need to know what procedural course they should take before pursuing an action. *See Platts v. Parents Helping Parents*, 897 P.2d 1228, 1231-32, (Utah Ct. App. 1995), *rev'd by Platts v. Parents Helping Parents*, 947 P.2d 658 (Utah 1997).

Early in its analysis, the Utah Supreme Court aptly points out:

In matters of statutory construction, “[t]he best evidence of the true intent and purpose of the Legislature in enacting [an] Act is the **plain language of the Act**. . . . “Statutory enactments are to render **all parts thereof relevant and meaningful**. . . .” Likewise we are compelled to give the statutory language meaning and to assume that “each term in the statute was used advisedly . . . **unless such a reading is unreasonably confused or inoperable**.” [Emphasis added.]

Platts 947 P.2d at 662. (citations omitted)(quoting Jensen v. Intermountain Health Care, Inc., 679 P.2d 903, 906 (Utah 1984); Millett v. Clark Clinic Corp., 609 P.2d 934, 936 (Utah 1980); Savage Industries., Inc. v. State Tax Commission, 811 P.2d 664, 670 (Utah 1991).

If “plain language” within an Act is regarded as best evidence of meaning; if the analysis

³ There is no dispute, of course, that when providing health care Defendant is a health care provider under Section 78-14-3(11).

is to come away with something relevant and meaningful; if unreasonably confused or inoperable readings are to be avoided— how is it possible that the statute in question is not ambiguous, where a trial court can construe an ambulance mechanic to be a health care provider and that common negligence in routine mechanical maintenance can be viewed as “medical malpractice.” when it is so patently contrary to the plain meaning of the terms and their common relevance? Because of the ambiguity and license for extremely broad construction, normally could not, an even very sophisticated potential plaintiff logically be better informed as to what action to pursue when advancing a claim.” Platts v. Parents Helping Parents, 897 P.2d 228, 1232,(Utah Ct. App. 1995), *rev’d by* Platts v. Parents Helping Parents, 947 P.2d 658 (Utah 1997).

The Supreme Court’s answer was that “whether [the one providing a service does] indeed qualify as a ‘health care provider’ depends, of course, upon whether the . . . service actually rendered [is] in fact similar to the care and services rendered by any of those specifically listed in the statute.” Id. at 663.

Applying this analysis, the question becomes whether an automotive mechanic working on an ambulance provides services arising out of the health needs of persons or groups of persons in any way plainly or meaningfully similar to those of a physician, registered nurse, dentist, optometrist, or clinical laboratory technologist or anyone employed by or acting for them in rendering such care or service. To say that it does simply must go well beyond any reasonable intent the legislature could have had in setting out the specifics of the statute.

The trial court’s conclusion that an auto mechanic is a health care provider simply because she is an employee of a hospital is plainly and practically wrong. No one using plain meanings could place the services of a mechanic on par with those of a physician or therapist in asserting negligence and applicable standards of care. Common sense would say that there is not even an issue of fact; a mechanic is not a health care provider and alleging malpractice regarding

a mechanic's care or service cannot be done in good faith. Nevertheless, the technical inquiry urged by the Utah Supreme Court in its version of Platts at a minimum raises an issue of material fact upon which the trial court wrongfully granted summary judgment.

POINT TWO

SINCE PLAINTIFF'S CLAIM DOES NOT ARISE FROM HEALTH CARE PROVIDED BY DEFENDANT, IT IS NOT A "MALPRACTICE IN ACTION AGAINST A HEALTH CARE PROVIDER"

Even assuming that this court determines that the Defendant "wears only one hat", there is still at least a question of fact as to whether this action is a "malpractice action against a health care provider" as that term is defined under Section 78-14-3(14) of the Utah Code.

"Malpractice action against a health care provider" means any action against a health care provider whether in contract, tort, breach of warranty, wrongful death, or otherwise, based upon alleged personal injuries relating to or arising out of health care rendered or which should have been rendered by the health care provider. [Emphasis added]

Utah Code Ann. § 78-14-3(14)(1998).