1999

# Max R. Carter v. Milford Valley Memorial Hospital, a government agency of Beaver County : Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

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

UTAH CODE ANN. § 78-14-3(11) (1999). It is undisputed the Appellee is a hospital. The District Court not only noted that the Appellee “is [] licensed as a ‘General Acute Hospital,’” but further stated in accordance with the above cited language that the Appellee “easily qualifies as a health care provider for the purposes of the Malpractice Act. The [Appellee] is a hospital which renders health care and related professional services.” Memorandum Decision at 3-4. The Court further noted that the “[t]ransportation of persons in need of health care to the hospital is obviously an integral part of the hospital function and is part of the health care provided by the [Appellee]. Indeed, the health care service which the [Appellee] provided through its ambulance is the very issue in this case.” *Id.* at 4-5.

The District Court correctly made this decision based on current law. Utah Code § 78-14-3(11) was recently interpreted by the Supreme Court in Platts v. Parents Helping Parents, 947 P.2d 658 (Utah 1997). In that case, the parent of a child who committed suicide while under the care of defendant brought an action against the defendant, Parents Helping Parents. The District Court granted summary judgment to the defendant holding that the



defendant was a health care provider. Because it was a health care provider, the statute of limitations found in § 78-14-4 was applicable to their case, and therefore the claim was time barred. The parents appealed this decision to the Court of Appeals.

The Court of Appeals, in their decision, stated the general rule of statutory interpretation. The court cited the purpose of the Act is such that courts should look to congressional intent. See Platts v. Parents Helping Parents, 897 P.2d 1228, 1231 (Utah Ct. App. 1995). That court concluded:

We construe § 78-14-3(11) narrowly to cover only those specifically identified as “health care providers” or those in the rare cases who are so similar to those listed as to have little doubt as to their intended “health care provider” status.

Id. at 1232. The Court of Appeals then held as a matter of law the defendant, a “day treatment facility,” was not a health care provider because their titles were not among those listed in § 78-14-3(11), nor were their titles sufficiently similar to them. See id.

The Supreme Court reversed this decision on certiorari, thereby rejecting a narrow interpretation of § 78-14-3(11) and holding that Parents Helping Parents was one of those encompassed under the “others rendering care and services similar.” See Platts, 947 P.2d 658 (Utah 1997). It should also be noted that the Supreme Court restated the rules of statutory interpretation:

In matters of statutory construction, “[t]he best evidence of the true intent and purpose of the legislature in enacting [an] Act is the plain language of the Act.” *Jensen v. Intermountain Health Care, Inc.*, 679 P.2d 903, 906 (Utah 1984). “[S]tatutory

enactments are to be construed as to render all parts thereof relevant and meaningful.” *Millett v. Clark Clinic Corp.*, 609 P.2d 934, 936 (Utah 1980). Likewise, we are compelled to give the statutory language meaning and to assume that “each term in the statute was used advisedly . . . unless such a reading is unreasonably confused or inoperable.” *Savage Indus., Inc. v. State Tax Comm’n.*, 811 P.2d 664, 670 (Utah 1991)(footnote omitted). We will avoid an interpretation which renders portions of, or words in, a statute superfluous or inoperative. *State v. Hunt*, 906 P.2d 311, 312 (Utah 1995).

Id. at 662.

The Supreme Court further stated that § 78-14-3(11) “is not ambiguous . . .” and “[t]he judiciary is obligated to interpret statutes as they are crafted . . .” Id. at 662. The court stated that Court of Appeals erred in excluding the defendant because their license was obtained under a section not listed in the statute. The court stated that this would exclude all those who may perform similar care or services. The court stated:

We conclude that the statute in question means what it says. All those identified in the statute are “health care providers.” All others rendering care and services similar to those explicitly identified are also “health care providers.”

Id. at 663. A much stronger argument applies in the case at bar where the ambulance services is directly addressing the patients health care needs.

For the reasons stated above, the District Court properly and correctly interpreted the statute. The Appellee is a hospital of which the ambulance service was an integral part. The District Court correctly noted that an ambulance service is directly related to the health care provided by the Appellee. Therefore, the Appellee is a health care provider because it is

specifically listed as a hospital and its integral parts, such as the ambulance service, provide “care and services to those explicitly identified.”

**B. The Ambulance Service, Apart from the Hospital Is Still a Health Care Provider as Provided by the Act.**

Even if the ambulance driver was not a listed health care provider, his services, as stated by the Platts decision were related to health care as he was “rendering care and services similar to those explicitly identified are also ‘health care providers.’” Id. at 663. As noted by the above citation to the Utah Code, “others rendering similar care and services relating to or arising out of the health needs of persons or groups of persons” are also health care providers. UTAH CODE ANN. § 78-14-3(11). As the District Court Judge noted, ambulance transportation is an integral part of the services rendered. Therefore, the conclusions of the District Court Judge that the ambulance service was a health care provider was correct, and this position is supported by the language in Platts.

**C. The Appellant’s Claim Is Still Barred by the Utah Health Care Malpractice Act Because an Ambulance Mechanic Would Still Be Covered by the Provisions of the Act.**

Although the facts do not indicate that a mechanical decision was made at any time during the proceedings, Appellant contends that the negligence claim was based upon an “auto mechanic’s” negligent care of the ambulance. While there was no such evidence before the trial court, Appellant bases his argument on allegations made in his complaint, which were not presented on summary judgment. At no point does the Appellant dispute the

District Court's analysis that the ambulance service is an integral part of the health care provided by the Appellee. Nor did Appellant contend in his facts that a particular mechanic was liable, but suggested only in his argument opposing summary judgment that someone other than the hospital may have been responsible. However, assuming that the ambulance driver or the mechanic were not rendering direct health care to the decedent, the providing of their services is still encompassed by the Act.

Section 78-14-3(11), states in part, that a health care provider is any one of those several titles listed, including the hospital as noted above. It also includes "officer, employees, or agents of the any of the above (including hospitals) acting in the course and scope of their employment" UTAH CODE ANN. § 78-14-3(11) (1999). As is correctly noted by the Appellant, an auto mechanic is not a listed health care provider. However, even if the question as to whether the mechanic was the negligent or cause of the negligence in the present case, the maintenance of the ambulance would still fall within the scope of their employment as that employment aided the hospital in its role as a health care provider. Therefore, the District Court properly concluded that the ambulance transportation was still covered by the principles of the Act. When the two year statute of limitations had run, Appellant's claim was barred as the ambulance mechanic was acting within the scope of his duties, which included rendering health care to another. Again, the Platts court determined that "the statute in question means what it says," explicitly identifying that all others rendering similar aid fell within the provisions of the Act. Platts, at 663. The same argument

applies in the present case. The citation from the Utah Code cited above immediately follows all those who render similar care. Therefore, the plain language of the Act encompasses all those working within the scope of their employment in the areas of health care. Claims against those who act within the scope of their employment on behalf of the health care providers, are barred by § 78-14-4's two year statute of limitations.

However, it should be noted that this final argument need not be reached by this Court. As noted above in subpart A, the District Court properly concluded that the ambulance transportation was an integral part of the hospital. The hospital itself is clearly an identified health care provider. Therefore, the hospital may not be subject to suit after the two years statute of limitations has expired. Further, as indicated in subpart B above, the District Court in this same conclusion stated that the transportation is an integral part of the hospital, and the driver and the ambulance providing transportation to the hospital were clearly part of the health care rendered. This conclusion is based properly on the status of the law as interpreted by Platts. Further, the lower court did not explicitly reach the decision that a mechanic was covered by the health care provision, as the Appellant raised no issues of fact supporting this contention. However, the above argument indicates that while acting in the scope of his employment, he also falls under the provisions of the Act.

**D. The Action of which the Appellant Complains Clearly Relates to the Health Care Provided.**

In Point Two of the Appellant's argument, the Appellant states "that the maintenance and repair of an ambulance by an auto mechanic is in no way related to or arising from 'health care.'" Appellant's Brief at 7. Appellant relies on § 78-14-3(14) of the Utah Code which defines a malpractice action.

"Malpractice action against a health care provider" means *any action* against a health care provider whether in *contract, tort, breach of warranty, wrongful death, or otherwise*, based upon alleged personal injuries relating to or arising out of the health care rendered or which should have been rendered by the health care provider.

Utah Code Ann. § 78-14-3(14) (1999) (emphasis added).

However, Appellant's contention fails for three reasons. First, as stated by the District Court, the health care provided by the Appellee hospital is an "integral part" of their health care services and therefore "relates to" health care. Second, Appellant's interpretation of this section, contradicts the intent of the legislature and contradicts the accepted language of § 78-14-3(11) cited above. Third, Appellant's interpretation will lead to absurd results creating a gap in the Act, thereby frustrating legislative intent and making the language within the Act superfluous.

The District Court specifically noted, as stated above, that the "[t]ransportation of persons in need of health care to the hospital is obviously an integral part of the hospital function as part of the health care provided by the [Appellee]." Memorandum Decision at

4-5. Again, the statutory language states that an action “relating to . . . health care rendered or which should have been rendered by the health care provider.” UTAH CODE ANN. § 78-14-3(14) (1999). Appellee rendered transport services to the hospital, the sole purpose of this transport was to expedite the “health care” of the person being transported. Therefore, if a failure occurs in the transport, then by logical conclusion, a failure occurs in the health care being rendered.

Additionally, the last portion of this statute relates to health care which “which should have been rendered.” Assuming the facts to be true as stated above, then the Appellee Hospital should have rendered health care with its ambulance services, which were stopped in this case for a minute or two to make the transfer.

For these reasons, the ambulance transportation itself, as well as the service of the particular ambulance in this case, falls within the language § 78-14-3(14). Again, the Platts court stated that “the statute . . . means what it says.” Platts, 947 at 663. The ambulance care related and arose from the health care being provided to the decedent, even if a mechanic failed to properly monitor a gauge located on the ambulance. The interpretation of the above statute by the Appellant also contradicts the intent of the legislature and the accepted language of § 78-14-3(11), which is cited above. The Utah Legislature stated that:

In enacting this Act, it is the purpose of the legislature to provide a reasonable time in which actions may be commenced against health care providers while limiting that time to a specified period for which professional liability insurance premiums can be reasonably and accurately calculated; and to

provide other procedural changes to expedite early evaluation and settlement of claims.

UTAH CODE ANN. § 78-14-2 (1999).

In the present case the Appellee Hospital is clearly a health care provider, and as noted above, the employees and other services which relate to the provision of health care fall within the statutory scheme. If in every situation where the hospital or other health care provider had to justify how every act fell within the contemplation of the provision of health care the purposes of the statute would be frustrated. In the present case the Appellant brought the action over two years later and now is attempting to justify the lateness of his claim by basing it on an argument that the care provided by an ambulance does not fall within the health care provided. However, as noted above, both subsections (11) and (14) encompass any claim relating to or arising from the health care including the ambulance services in this case.

Further, Appellant's interpretation of § 78-14-3(14) would specifically contradict the language cited above from subsection (11), which stated any "officers, employees, or agents of any of the above acting in the course and scope of their employment." The ambulance system's sole existence is to provide transport to those needing health care, and assuming *arguendo* that the auto mechanic would be responsible for the maintenance of care of this ambulance, subsection (11) clearly encompasses that mechanic. This is supported by the argument above. However, according to the interpretation of subsection (14) by the



Appellant, the employees of a hospital or other health care provider would be removed if the specific action they took did not directly relate to the specific injury. As noted in the present case, the facts are that the Appellant called for the ambulance which was dispatched as part of the health care service. Therefore again, any failure of the ambulance was a failure in the health care service provided. Therefore, under the language of the statute the claim is barred by the statute of limitations. “The best evidence of the true intent and purpose of the legislature in enacting the act is the plain language of the act.” Boulder Mountain Lodge, Inc. v. Town of Boulder, 373 Utah Adv. Rep. 5, 7 (1999) (quoting State v. Hunt, 906 P.2d 311, 313 (Utah 1995)). That court went on to state: “accordingly, we ‘look first to the plain language of the statute and assume that each of the terms was used advisably. The language is therefore read literally unless such a reading proves to be unreasonably confused or inoperable.’” Boulder Mountain Lodge, at 7 (quoting Surety Life Ins. Co. v. Smith, 892 P.2d 1, 3 (Utah 1995)). In Boulder Mountain Lodge the court stated with regard to a liquor license statute that: “the statutory language requiring the written consent of local authority . . . is exceedingly plain on its face.” Therefore, based on the plain language of this statute stating “any” claim arising from health care is covered, and this is one such claim

The Platts court further stated “we will avoid an interpretation which renders portions of, or words in, a statute superfluous or inoperative.” Platts, at 662 (quoting State v. Hunt, 906 P.2d 311, 312 (Utah 1995)). Accepting the interpretation by the Appellant in this case would render the language in subsection (11) superfluous. That section, as noted repeatedly

above, indicates that employees working in the scope of their employment for one of the identified health care providers fall within the purview of the Act. Therefore, subsection (14), if granted the interpretation by the Appellant, would have those persons removed if the specific act of employment was not within the listed health care fields. The result is a hospital employee is covered within the definition of (11), but removed by (14) under the Appellant's interpretation if his job title is not on the list of other healthcare professional or standing alone is not so similarly-related. The health care provided by the ambulance in this case was related. However, assuming that the auto mechanic was negligent in his care of the ambulance, his actions would be covered under subsection (11), but according to the Appellant not covered under subsection (14). If his actions are not covered under subsection (14), the language of the act is superfluous in that no employee ever acting within the scope of their employment would be covered unless he also met the first part of part of the definition. However, if he is an employee acting within the scope of his employment, subsection (14) is still viable in that his employment related to the health care being provided. Therefore, the interpretation adopted by the District Court and that supported by the Appellee in this case renders both subsections operable and is within the cited intent of the legislature. "[S]tatutory enactments are to be construed as to render all parts thereof relevant and meaningful." Platts, at 662 (quoting Millet v. Clark Clinic Corp., 609 P.2d 934, 936 (Utah 1980)).

The Appellant's interpretation would also lead to absurd results and thereby frustrates legislative intent. As noted above, the legislative intent is to place a time limit on all actions brought against health care providers. As noted by the interpretation by the Platts court, as well as the arguments above, this definition is broad enough to cover all actions relating to or arising from health care, again, the above cited language from the act states that *any* action may fall within the definition, including torts, contracts, etc. The purpose of the Act was to lower costs for insurance and other costs provided by health care providers. The actions complained of in this case and similar cases result in costs to the health care providers. These are the costs that the health care provider was meant to avoid after the period of statute of limitations had run, according to the purpose of the statute as cited above.

Further, though not implicated in this present case, the interpretation by the Appellant would open a gap in the law. His interpretation would require the courts to analyze every specific act taken by any employee of any health care provider which does not directly relate to the health care of that particular person. It is true that a mechanic does not perform a "health care service." However, his service is related and arises from the need for health care.

A few examples demonstrate the gap that would be created by the argument made by the Appellant. First, an elevator failure in a hospital may result in a patient having to be moved between floors by stairs. This would result in delay of the health care being provided to them. That situation is very similar to the present case. It would be absurd for a claimant

to wait over two years to bring an action simply because an elevator operator or elevator mechanic failed to properly inspect or otherwise maintain the elevators. Clearly the hospital in that situation bears the responsibility of all provisions of its health care, including that of the maintenance of the elevator. Therefore, the two year statute of limitations should apply.

Another example is that of a cafeteria employee. A patient staying at a hospital may require a certain diet. A cafeteria worker is clearly not a “health care provider.” However, failure on her part to properly monitor the ingredients in a food item may interrupt or interfere with recovery, or even cause physical injuries to the patient. In such a situation, a claimant may state that the cafeteria worker was not providing health care. However, clearly the dietary needs of the patients arise from and relate to the health care provided to that patient by the hospital. Similarly in the present case, as noted above and by the District Court, the health care provided was an “integral part” of the health care provided by the Appellee hospital. Again, all of Appellant’s contentions and arguments could have been addressed by simply complying with the mandates of the Act by filing the appropriate notice within the required period of time.

**E. The Trial Court’s Decision Should Also Be Affirmed in Accordance With The Governmental Immunity Act And Because Appellant Failed to Make His Claim Within the Statute of Limitations for a Wrongful Death Action**

Appellee made its motion for summary judgment on three grounds. As noted above, the lower court did not “reach the separate issues governmental immunity, or the applicability of the statute of limitations for wrongful death actions.” Memorandum

Decision at 5. However, these two other grounds also serve as a proper basis for this court to affirm the judgment of the lower court in accordance with the holding of Nova Casualty Co. v. Able Construction, Inc., 374 Utah Adv. Rep. 3 (1999).

In Nova, the appellee similarly argued that the trial court had properly affirmed its motion for summary judgment, but that the trial court could have affirmed this decision on other grounds which the trial court rejected. The appellant, Able Construction, argued that Nova had to raise these issues through a cross-appeal. The Supreme disagreed stating: “If they [Nova] wish to uphold the trial court’s ruling on grounds that were raised but rejected below, a cross appeal is not necessary.” Id. at 3. The Supreme Court continued: “Nova does not request any change in relief. It was granted summary judgment, and it asks only that the decision of the trial court be affirmed. Therefore, it is free to raise arguments, not accepted below, in support of the ruling.” Id. at 4.

In the present case, the Appellee raised two other arguments in support of its motion for summary judgment. The trial court did not consider these as it found the first to be dispositive. Similar to Nova, the Appellee is not seeking to enlarge its rights, but demonstrate that the trial court’s decision should be affirmed. Therefore, Appellee raises the two other arguments not reached by the trial court, which are supported below.

**1. Appellant’s Claims are Barred by the Utah Governmental Immunity Act**

Section 63-30-3(1) states in part that “all governmental entities are immune from suit for any injury which results from the exercise of a . . . governmentally owned hospital . . .

or other governmental health care facility . . . .” UTAH CODE ANN. § 63-30-3(1). The term “government entity” is defined in § 63-30-2(3) as “the state and its political subdivisions as defined in this chapter.” Section 63-30-2(7) defines a “political subdivision” as “any county, city, town . . . or other governmental subdivision or public corporation.” The Appellee Hospital is a public division of Beaver County, State of Utah. See Memorandum Decision at 3; Memorandum in Support of Summary Judgment at 1-2. Since Appellee meets the definition of a governmental entity, and since it is governmentally owned, the Utah Governmental Immunity Acts applies to this case.

Appellant’s specific claims are barred by §§ 63-30-10(15) and 63-30-10(4). Section 63-30-10 states that no waiver of immunity exists where “the injury arises out of, in connection with or results from . . . (15) the operation of an emergency vehicle” while the emergency vehicle is being driven within the parameters of § 41-6-14 (traffic laws exceptions for emergency vehicles). Therefore, under § 63-30-10(15) the state has not waived sovereign immunity in cases where a claim for relief is based on injuries resulting from the use of emergency vehicles unless it can be shown that they were guilty of some traffic violation as outlined in § 41-6-14. In his Complaint, Appellant alleged that “[t]he death of the decedent was a direct and proximate result of the delay in transporting her to the Beaver Valley Hospital.” Complaint at 2, attached hereto in the addendum. This, Appellant claims, was the result of unnecessary negligent delay caused by Appellee’s “[f]ailure to keep the ambulance in proper maintenance [sic] and repair so that it could complete the trip to

Beaver Valley Hospital.” Complaint at 3. Appellant does not claim that Appellee violated any traffic laws outlined in § 41-6-14. The Utah Supreme Court upheld that validity of this section as is noted in Day v. Utah Dept. of Safety, 882 P.2d 1150, 1152 fn.1 (Utah App. 1994).

In his Memorandum in opposing summary judgment, Appellant argued that governmental immunity has been waived under § 63-30-10(15) because the Appellant did not claim that the decedent’s injuries arose from the “operation of an emergency vehicle,” but instead arose because of “improper care and maintenance of the ambulance.” Plaintiff’s Memorandum in Opposition to Summary Judgment at 4. However, an analysis of § 63-30-10 reveals that governmental immunity has not been waived.

Section 63-30-10 states that “immunity from suit of all governmental entities is waived for injury proximately caused by negligent acts or omissions of an employee committed within the scope of employment *except . . . in connection with . . .* (15) the operation of an emergency vehicle. . . .” UTAH CODE ANN. § 63-30-10 (emphasis added). The death of the decedent does not have to arise from or result from the operation of an emergency vehicle in order to maintain governmental immunity, but it is sufficient that the injuries are somehow *connected* to the operation of an emergency vehicle. It is clear that the Appellant attributes the alleged injuries directly to the operation of the ambulance. Therefore, governmental immunity has not been waived, and the Appellant’s claims should be barred under § 63-30-3. Once again, “[t]he best evidence of the true intent and purpose

of the legislature in enacting [an] Act is the plain language of the Act.” Jensen v. Intermountain Health Care, Inc., 679 P.2d 903, 906 (Utah 1984).

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